IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW ADOLOGIO p.m.

Case No. 81710

Electronically Filed NMAPA2021 06:10 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CHEYENNE NALDER

Appellant,

VS.

GARY LEWIS and UNITED AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

District Court Case No. 07A549111

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

David A. Stephens, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 00902 Stephens Law Offices 3636 N. Rancho Drive Las Vegas, NV 89130 Telephone: 702-656-2355 Facsimile: 702-656-2355

Email: dstephens@davidstephenslaw.com

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO NRAP 26.1

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter because it is an appeal from a final order in a case granting in part, and denying in part, Cheyenne Nalder's motion for attorney's fees and costs against United Automobile Insurance Company.

The Order regarding Cheyenne Nalder's motion for costs and attorney's fees was filed on July 24, 2020. Notice of Entry of that Order was filed on July 27, 2020, and the Notice of Entry was served that same day by electronic service through the Eighth Judicial District Court electronic filing system.

No tolling motions were filed following the Notice of Entry of Order in this matter.

At the time the order appealed from was entered, Defendant Gary Lewis had a pending motion for attorney's fees against United Automobile Insurance

Company before the Eighth Judicial District Court. On July 30, 2020, the District

Court issued a Minute order denying Mr. Lewis' motion for attorney's fees. That

order resolved the remaining claims in the suit.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(7), this matter could be presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals in that it is an appeal from a post judgment order in a civil case.

Pursuant to NRAP 17(a), Appellant believes the Nevada Supreme Court should retain this appeal because it is related to a matter which is currently pending before the Nevada Supreme Court. That matter is case number 79487.

Additionally, the Nevada Supreme Court has been involved with several appeals involving this case, including two certified questions from the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals to the Nevada Supreme Court which were resolved in Case number 70504. It has also been involved in writs arising in this case, including Supreme Court Case number 78085, Case number 78243, and Case number 80965.

While this appeal involves a motion for attorney's fees and costs following issuance of an amended judgment, the judgment itself is for an amount in excess of \$3,500,000.00.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the District Court erred by using the wrong legal standard to decide and deny Appellant's motion for attorney's fees under the facts and circumstances of this case.
- 2. Whether the District Court erred in finding that United Automobile Insurance Company did not intervene in this matter in bad faith and denying Appellant motion for attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) for that reason.
- 3. Whether the District Court erred in holding that the word "costs" as used in NRS 12.130(1)(d) does not include attorney's fees when a party has improperly intervened into a matter after judgment has been entered.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of an automobile accident, ("Accident"), which Gary Lewis, ("Lewis"), negligently ran over Cheyenne Nalder, ("Cheyenne"). This Accident occurred in 2007 when Cheyenne was a minor. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0001-0004).

United Auto Insurance Company, ("UAIC"), Lewis' insurance carrier, denied coverage for the Accident.

Cheyenne, through her guardian ad litem, filed suit against Lewis on October 9, 2007. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0001-0004).

On June 3, 2008, a default judgment was entered against Lewis and in the favor of Cheyenne for \$3,500,000.00 plus interest and costs. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0005-0006). A Notice of Entry of Judgment was filed and served on Lewis on August 26, 2008. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0007-0010). This final judgment fixed the liability of Lewis to Cheyenne and the damages he owed to Cheyenne caused by his negligence.

On March 22, 2018, Cheyenne filed a motion to amend the judgment to change the name of the plaintiff from her father, who had been her guardian ad litem, to herself in that she had then reached the age of majority. The motion was supported up by points and authorities showing how the statute of limitations on the original judgment had not expired. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0011-0019). The court entered an

Amended Judgment on March 28, 2018. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0020-0022). Notice of Entry of that amended judgment was filed and served on Lewis on May 18, 2018. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0023-0027).

Cheyenne filed a second lawsuit against Lewis on April 3, 2018, seeking to enforce the judgment and to obtain declaratory relief as to the status of the judgment.

On August 17, 2018, UAIC filed a motion to intervene in both lawsuits. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0028-0093). UAIC's motion to intervene was granted in both lawsuits. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0113-0114).

Cheyenne sought a writ from this Court to establish that UAIC had no right to intervene in either case. (App. Vol. III, pp. App0484-0517). This Court held that UAIC could not intervene in this case because the judgment was already entered. (App. Vol. III, pp. App00599-0615). It allowed the intervention in the other case to stand.

Following this Court's decision granting the Writ, Cheyenne, because the case was concluded, filed a motion for attorney's fees and costs against UAIC. (App. Vol. IV, pp. App0854-0872). The District Court granted her costs, but denied her motion for attorney's fees. (App. Vol. V, pp. App0175, 1078-1079). Cheyenne then appealed that decision to this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. UNDERLYING FACTS

This case arises from an auto accident, ("Accident"), that occurred on July 8, 2007, when Lewis negligently ran over Cheyenne. Cheyenne was a nine-year-old girl at the time. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0001-0004).

Following the accident, Cheyenne's father extended an offer to UAIC to settle Cheyenne's injury claim against Lewis for the policy limits of \$15,000.00. UAIC rejected this offer. Cheyenne believes that UAIC rejected the offer based on its position that Lewis was not covered by its policy on the date of the accident because Lewis had not renewed his policy by June 30, 2007.

After UAIC rejected the offer, James Nalder, on behalf of Cheyenne, filed this lawsuit against Lewis in the Eighth Judicial District Court. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0001-0004).

UAIC did not defend Lewis or file a declaratory relief action regarding Lewis's insurance coverage. Lewis did not answer Cheyenne's complaint. Cheyenne obtained a default judgment against Lewis for \$3,500,000.00. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0005-0006). Notice of entry of judgment was filed and served on Lewis on August 26, 2008. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0007-0010).

B. Factual Background of the Claims Handling Case Against UAIC

On May 22, 2009, Lewis and James Nalder, on behalf of Cheyenne, filed suit against UAIC alleging breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, bad faith, fraud, and violation of NRS 686A.310. Lewis assigned to Cheyenne his right to "all funds necessary to satisfy the Judgment" and retained to himself any funds recovered above the judgment.¹

UAIC removed the bad faith case to US District Court. UAIC filed a motion for summary judgment as to all the claims, alleging Lewis did not have insurance coverage on the date of the accident. The US District Court granted summary judgment to UAIC because it found that the insurance policy was not ambiguous as to when Lewis had to make a payment to avoid a coverage lapse.

Cheyenne and Lewis appealed that decision to the Ninth Circuit. The Ninth Circuit reversed the summary judgment in favor of UAIC finding that Lewis and Cheyenne had raised material questions of facts showing that the insurance renewal statement was ambiguous regarding the date when the premium payment was due to avoid a coverage lapse.

¹ The majority of the documents cited in this and the next section are not included in the Appendix for two reasons. First, the information in these sections is provided to give the Court some background on how the parties got here, but the documents themselves do not affect the issues in this appeal. Second, NRAP 30(b) requires that only essential document be included in the Appendix.

On remand, the U.S. District Court concluded the renewal statement was ambiguous, construed the ambiguity against UAIC, and found Lewis was covered on the date of the accident. The U.S. District Court also determined UAIC breached its duty to defend Lewis, but did not award damages, other than the policy limits because Lewis did not incur any fees or costs in defense of the state court action. Sometime after that UAIC paid the policy limits.

Cheyenne and Lewis appealed the decision denying damages to the Ninth Circuit. The Ninth Circuit certified to this Court the question of whether an insurer that breaches its duty to defend is liable for all foreseeable consequential damages of the breach.

After the first certified question was fully briefed and pending before the Nevada Supreme Court, UAIC claimed that Cheyenne's judgment against Lewis had to be renewed pursuant to NRS 17.214. UAIC then filed a motion to dismiss Lewis and Cheyenne's appeal to the Ninth Circuit for lack of standing. UAIC raised this claim for the first time in the Ninth Circuit, rather than the trial court.

UAIC presented new evidence into the appeal process, arguing Cheyenne's underlying \$3,500,000.00 judgment against Lewis was not enforceable because the time to renew the judgment pursuant to NRS 17.214 had expired. UAIC ignored all of the tolling statutes. The only proof that the judgment had to be renewed and was

the affidavit of UAIC's counsel that no renewal pursuant to NRS 17.214 had been filed. As a result, UAIC argued that Cheyenne could no longer recover damages above the \$15,000.00 policy limit for breach of the contractual duty to defend. UAIC based that argument on a theory that the state court judgment had lapsed because it has not been renewed under NRS 17.214.

C. Factual Background of 2018 Case

Even though Cheyenne believes that the judgment had not expired and that the law is clear that UAIC is bound by the judgment, regardless of its continued validity against Lewis, Cheyenne, in an abundance of caution, filed actions in Nevada and California in 2018 to establish the continued validity of the judgment against Lewis.

Cheyenne, on April 3, 2018, filed another action against Lewis with three distinct claims for relief, pled in the alternative. The first claim is an action to enforce the original judgment against Lewis. This action will result in the original judgment and post judgment interest being reduced to judgment.

The second claim seeks a declaration that the statute of limitations on the original judgment against Lewis had not run due to various statutory tolling provisions.

The District Court dismissed the third claim for relief as a result of UAIC's

motion to dismiss.²

Cheyenne also retained California counsel, who domesticated the original Nevada judgment in California, which has a ten-year statute of limitations regarding actions on a judgment.

Cheyenne maintains that these subsequent actions are unnecessary, but out of an abundance of caution, she filed them to maintain her judgment against Lewis.

D. Facts Underlying UAIC's Intervention

On August 17, 2018, more than 10 years after the original final judgment in this case was filed, and almost five months after the amended judgment was filed, UAIC filed a Motion to Intervene in this case. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0028-0093).³ Prior to its motion to intervene UAIC had never previously been involved in this lawsuit. It had not appeared. It had not defended Lewis. The Motion, based on the certificate of "service," was not served on any of the parties. (App. Vol. I, p. App0036).

Cheyenne's counsel discovered UAIC's motion to intervene on the district court website and obtained a copy of it through the court's portal. (App. Vol. I, pp.

² The dismissal of the third claim for relief has not been appealed by any party, as of now. That case is still pending.

³ On the same day, or the day after, UAIC also filed a motion to intervene in Cheyenne's second case against Lewis.

App0094-0095). As was noted in the Cheyenne's Opposition to the motion to intervene, Mr. Stephens contacted Matthew Douglas, Esq., who was and is representing UAIC, and advised him that he had not received the motion and asked for additional time to file an opposition. His request was denied. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0094-0095). The certificate of service on the Motion to Intervene was not completed.⁴ Cheyenne then quickly filed an Opposition to the UAIC's Motion to Intervene and provided a courtesy copy to the court. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0094-0099).

Cheyenne's Opposition detailed the procedural defects of UAIC's Motion to Intervene, and also set forth the clear and well settled Nevada case law and statutory law that prohibit intervention in a case after judgment is entered. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0094-0099). UAIC filed a reply before the in "chambers hearing." (App. Vol. I, pp. App0100-0111).

Even though this Court has clearly and consistently held that "in all cases" a party must seek to intervene before judgment is entered and that intervention is never permitted after judgment is entered or settlement reached, (*See, Lopez v. Merit Insurance Co.*, 109 Nev. 553, 556, 853 P.2d 1266, 1268 (1993) and APP Vol. III

⁴ See the incomplete Certificate of Service is found at App. Vol I, p. App0036. No type of service is marked, at all.

0599-0615)), the District Court, without hearing oral argument, allowed UAIC to Intervene. Even though Cheyenne filed an opposition, the District Court's minute order stated "There being no opposition" and granted the motion. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0112). The written order of the District Court contained the same language, although it was crossed out. (APP. Vol. I, pp.0113-0114). That Order was entered on October 19, 2018. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0113-0114).

After UAIC was allowed to intervene in this matter, it filed several motions which complicated and extended this previously resolved matter, including a Motion to Consolidate this action with Cheyenne's second action, which was granted, and a Motion to Set Aside the Judgment, which was denied. (App. Vol III, pp. App0688-0728).

After the District Court signed the order allowing UAIC to intervene, Cheyenne filed a petition for a writ with this Court. (App. Vol. III, pp. App0484-0517). UAIC opposed this writ. (App. Vol. III, pp. App0518-0570). This Court issued a decision holding that the intervention by UAIC into this case was improper because the judgment had already been entered. (App. Vol. I, pp. App0599-0615).

Subsequent to the issuance of the order on the writ, Cheyenne filed a motion to recover the attorney's fees and costs she incurred by reason of the improper intervention by UAIC into this matter. (App. Vol. IV, pp. App0854-0872). The

motion was filed against UAIC only. It was based on UAIC's improper intervention into this case. The District Court granted Cheyenne an award of costs⁵, but denied the motion for attorney's fees. (App. Vol. V, pp. App1075-1078). The minute order noted that there was no bad faith and that attorney's fees are not costs. (App. Vol V. p. 1075). Although the Judge's findings in the transcript, (App. Vol V. pp App1097-1099), and minute order to not mention "without reasonable ground" that was added to the final order. (App. Vol. V. pp. App1076-1078).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Cheyenne's motion for attorney's fees because it used the wrong standard for determining whether she was entitled to attorney's fees. The trial court held that UAIC had not intervened in this case in "bad faith". However, bad faith is not the standard. The issue, under NRS 18.010(b)(2) is whether the motion to intervene was filed "without ground" or to "harass" the opposing party. UAIC's intervention, given existing Nevada case and statutory law prohibiting intervention after judgment is entered, was clearly without grounds and should have been denied. Cheyenne was prejudiced by the denial of her motion for attorney's fees when the trial court followed an improper standard in denying the motion. Additionally, NRS 18.010(2)(b), by its own language, is to be interpreted broadly by

⁵ No party has appealed the award of costs.

the court.

Assuming that "bad faith" is the correct standard for determining whether a party is entitled to attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b), UAIC's intervention into this lawsuit, given that judgment had been entered prior to the time the motion to intervene was filed, was in bad faith. Thus, the trial court erroneously determined that the participation of UAIC in this case was not in bad faith. That decision was an abuse of discretion by the trial court and for that reason this Court should reverse that decision.

NRS 12.130 provides that if a party does not succeed on its intervention then the other party is entitled to recover its "costs". Under the circumstances the terms "costs" should include an award of attorney's fees, rather than just the out of pocket costs as defined in NRS 18.005. The definition of costs in NRS 18.005 does not include NRS 12.130. Because the trial court failed to recognize this distinction the decision denying Cheyenne her attorney's fees under NRS 12.010 must be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT USED AN IMPROPER LEGAL STANDARD IN DENYING CHEYENNE'S MOTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES

After finally succeeding in this case, Cheyenne brought her motion for attorney's fees and costs pursuant to two statutes, NRS 18.010(2)(b) and NRS

12.130(2)(b). She filed her motion for attorney's fees against UAIC only. (App. Vol. V, pp. App0854-0872). She did not believe that she had, under existing Nevada law, a valid claim for attorney's fees against Lewis.

Both statutes⁶ provide a basis to recover attorney's fees from UAIC in this matter.

NRS 18.010(2)(b) provides that attorney's fees may be recovered, "[W]ithout regard to recovery sought, when the court finds the claim, counterclaim, cross claim or third party complaint or defense of the opposing party was brought without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party."

While the District Court has discretion in deciding a motion for attorney's fees, it must follow the correct legal principles in exercising its discretion.

"This court generally reviews a district court's decision awarding or denying costs or attorney fees for an abuse of discretion. *See Miller v. Jones*, 114 Nev. 1291 1300, 970 P.2d 571, 577 (1998). '[W]here a trial court exercises its discretion in clear disregard of the guiding legal principles,' it 'may constitute an abuse of discretion.' *Bergmann v. Boyce*, 109 Nev. 670, 674, 856 P.2d 560, 563 (1993)."

⁶ See III *infra* for the argument regarding NRS 12.130.

Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 319 P.3d 606, 615 (Nev. 2014).

Here, in its ruling the District Court stated:

"[I]n looking at the issue of 18.010, and the issue of bad faith, Judge Jones did initially allow the intervention in this case. And on reconsideration, I denied the motion for reconsideration and I did it on the basis that I thought that the unique circumstances in this case and the unique posture of the parties and what is occurring in this case, permit it made -- intervention made sense and was appropriate as originally ordered by the Court.

"You know, obviously, the Supreme Court disagreed with that, I appreciate that, I don't have any problem with that. But you know, just because this Court was wrong, doesn't make the initial action by the parties that of bad faith. I don't believe that bad faith has been demonstrated in this case. And, you know, with reference to the one argument that UAIC may be gaming the system between the State Court and the Ninth Circuit Court in terms of what it -- position it takes here and -- versus what position it takes there.

"In terms of the underlying issue in this case, again, I don't think that that in and of itself demonstrates bad faith as opposed to vigorous prosecution on behalf of their client. So I will deny it as to attorney's fees and grant it as to the costs of \$458.52."

The trial court denied Cheyenne's motion for attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) based on its finding that UAIC did not act in "bad faith." However, "bad faith" is not the correct standard for determining whether a party is entitled to attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b). The correct standard is whether the party brought its claim or defense "without reasonable ground" or to "harass" the prevailing party. NRS 18.010(2)(b)

Put another way, "NRS 18.010(2)(b) and NRCP 11 authorize the district court to grant an award of attorney fees as sanctions against a party who pursues a claim without reasonable ground." *Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Restaurant*, 122 Nev. 317, 330, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 (2006).

Because the trial court applied the wrong legal standard in deciding Cheyenne's motion for attorney's fees, its decision must be reversed.

Blacks Law Dictionary defines bad faith as follows:

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