#### Case Nos. 81510 & 81710

#### In the Supreme Court of Nevada

CHEYENNE NALDER,

Appellant,

vs.

GARY LEWIS; and UNITED AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

GARY LEWIS, and CHEYENNE NALDER,
Appellants,

vs.

UNITED AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jul 19 2021 08:22 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

from the Eight Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada The Honorable ERIC JOHNSON District Judge District Court Case No. 07A54911

### UNITED AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWERING BRIEF

DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376)
ABRAHAM G. SMITH (SBN 13,250)
ADRIENNE R. BRANTLEY-LOMELI (SBN 14,486)

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

### B. Lewis and Nalder Failed to Include Any Evidence to Support the Fees

In addition, Lewis and Nalder provided the district court no evidence to support the fee award.

Lewis failed to provide any attorney billing records or the contingency fee agreement. See O'Connell v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC, 134 Nev. 550, 553, 429 P.3d 664, 667 (Ct. App. 2018) ("To support this request, O'Connell attached her contingency fee agreement, which stated, in part, that the fee would be 40 percent of any recovery and 50 percent of any recovery if there was an appeal."); id. at 561, 429 P.3d at 672 ("she

18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> NRS 12.130 provides that "[t]he court shall determine upon the intervention at the same time that the action is decided. If the claim of the party intervening is not sustained, the party intervening shall pay all *costs* incurred by the intervention." (Emphasis added.)

included the contingency fee agreement as part of her request for fees").<sup>3</sup> In addition, Nalder withheld the crux of any request for attorney's fees: the dollar amount of those fees. So all Nalder gave the district court is a bare contingency fee for a case with a judgment that—because the Ninth Circuit determined she cannot enforce it against Lewis—is now worth \$0. (5 App. 886.)

### C. Lewis and Nalder Were Not Entitled to Fees on Issues they Lost

Here, Lewis and Nalder contend that the trial court was required to award all of their requested fees and costs because of this Court's finding that UAIC improperly intervened in the 2007 action. (Lewis AOB at 9–10.) But Lewis and Nalder ignore that the fees they seek to shift to UAIC were not expended solely on that one question, but also on issues where UAIC prevailed.

UAIC prevailed on the critical question of its intervention in the 2018 action. (5 App. 933–37.) As their motion for reconsideration in this Court underscores, Nalder and Lewis wanted UAIC out of the litigation

19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Further, none of the factors in *Beattie v. Thomas*, 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d 268 (1983) supported an award because Lewis has never obtained a judgment against UAIC more favorable than his offer of judgment.

altogether, not merely out of the 2007 action. The parties' dispute about the enforceability of the 2008 judgment was equally presented in the 2018 action, to which UAIC is a proper party.

Likewise, Lewis and Nalder failed in their efforts to reinstate their judgment on Nalder's offer of judgment in violation of the stay, their request to vacate all orders entered by Judge Johnson, and their arguments regarding due process.

Yet Nalder and Lewis sought a blanket reimbursement of all of their fees incurred in the writ petitions—including the aspects where they failed—leaving the district court no basis to award Lewis and Nalder fees and costs for petitions that this Court rejected in part. See NRAP 39(a)(4) ("[I]f a judgment is affirmed in part, reversed in part, modified, or vacated, costs are taxed only as the [Supreme Court] orders."). It is impossible to draw a line between time spent contesting UAIC's intervention in this 2007 action and the time spent contesting UAIC's intervention in the 2018 action precisely because the petitions never distinguished the two.

### D. The District Court Did Not Err in Denying Lewis Costs Because He Sought Nontaxable and Undocumented Costs

Lewis further contends that the district court erred in denying his costs. (Lewis AOB at 12.) Lewis ignores that his request for costs omitted any documentation and included costs that are taxable only in the Supreme Court.

First, Lewis sought \$1600 for some undifferentiated amalgam of "photocopies/fax/postage/courier/delivery." But the "cost of producing necessary copies of briefs or appendices" is taxable in this Court, not the district court. NRAP 39(b)(1). And even then, the maximum is \$500. NRAP 39(c)(5).

Further, "a district court must have before it evidence that the costs were reasonable, necessary, and actually incurred." *Cadle Co. v. Woods & Erickson, LLP*, 131 Nev. 114, 121, 345 P.3d 1049, 1054 (2015). Lewis has provided none of that here. Lewis's three-line "memorandum of costs" that did not include a breakdown of the per-page cost of transcripts or copies, was insufficient under *Cadle Co. Id.* ("It is clear, then, that 'justifying documentation' must mean something more than a

memorandum of costs."). Without receipts, invoices, or other documentation, awarding costs awarding costs would have been an abuse of discretion. *Id*.

The district court's determination that the memorandum of costs provided no additional evidence justifying the costs was not an abuse of discretion.

### E. The District Court Applied the Correct Legal Standard in Ruling on the Fee and Costs Motions

In a veiled attempt to avoid the deficiencies in their fee and cost requests, Lewis and Nalder argue that the district court misapplied various statutes and case law. (Lewis AOB at 15-16; Nalder AOB 16.) First, Lewis alleges that the district court misapplied the law of *Cadle Co.*, by holding that in "all cases a memorandum of costs 'that provides no additional justifying documentation or evidence' cannot form the basis for an award of costs."

Lewis misconstrues the district court's findings. Rather, the district court determined that without evidence to determine whether a cost was reasonable, it could not award costs:

NRS 12.130 provides that "[i]f the claim of the party intervening is not sustained, the party intervening shall pay all costs incurred by the intervention." The

Nevada Supreme Court has held, however, that "[w]ithout evidence to determine whether a cost was reasonable and necessary, a district court may not award costs." *Cadle Co. v. Woods & Erickson, LLP*, 131 Nev. 114, 121, 345 P.3d 1049, 1054 (2015). Here, the attached memorandum of costs provides no additional justifying documentation or evidence.

(1 App. Lewis 103, Lewis 105). The district court did not err in its application of *Cadle Co*.

Second, Lewis contends that the district court erred in failing to consider an argument Lewis never raised: whether the intervention was brought to "harass" the opposing party. (Lewis AOB at 16.) In the district court, Lewis contended that "the intervention by UAIC into this case was brought without good cause." (1 App. Lewis 86.) Lewis never argued or presented any evidence that UAIC brought its motion to harass Lewis. The district court did not err in its analysis of NRS 18.010(2). See Millard v. Northland Grp., Inc., 2014 WL 6455986, at \*2 (D. Nev. Nov. 17, 2014) (finding that conclusory assertions that a party's purpose was to harass does not entitle it to attorney's fees); Guerrero v. RJM Acquisitions LLC, 499 F.3d 926, 940–41 (9th Cir. 2007).

Lewis and Nalder further distort the district court's findings and

argue the district court applied the incorrect standard by failing to consider whether the intervention was groundless. (Lewis AOB at 19; Nalder AOB at 17.) Lewis and Nalder appear to contend that the district court only considered whether UAIC acted in bad faith. This argument is simply false. The district court found that "UAIC did not maintain its position without *reasonable ground* or in bad faith." (1 App. Lewis 104, 106; 5 App. 1084 (emphasis added).) The district court further stated that it did not consider UAIC's conduct unreasonable.

And to some degree, I mean, well, I was obviously reversed by the Court on your writ. The Court finding, you know reasonable ground, tends to suggest that at least the UAIC wasn't acting unreasonable in that – in their conduct.

(5 App. 1089.) Not only did the district court find UAIC's conduct reasonable, it had *agreed* with UAIC's position in initially granting UAIC permission to intervene.

Lewis and Nalder's reliance on *Bergmann v. Boyce*, is also misplaced. 109 Nev. 670, 675, 856 P.2d 560, 563 (1993). In *Bergmann*, this Court held that the denial of attorney fees could not be based on same standard as denial of motion to dismiss. *Id.* This Court emphasized that

in assessing a motion to dismiss, the trial court assumes that the underlying facts support the allegations of the complaint. *Id.* The Court determined that motion for fee analysis depends upon the actual circumstances of the case rather than a hypothetical set of facts favoring plaintiff's averments. *Id.* This Court therefore held that whether a complaint survived a 12(b)(5) motion was not relevant to whether the party was entitled to attorney's fees. *Id* 

Here, the district court considered the actual circumstances of the case noting the "unique circumstances of this case and the unique posture of the parties." (5 App. 1098.) It determined that just because the district court erred in permitting intervention in one of the two actions did not make UAIC's initial motion in bad faith. It further found that UAIC's actions demonstrated "vigorous prosecution on behalf of their client." (5 App. 1099.) The district court ultimately found that "UAIC did not maintain its position without *reasonable ground* or in bad faith." (1 App. Lewis 104, Lewis 106; 5 App. 1084 (emphasis added).) Accordingly, the district court did not err in its analysis of NRS 18.010(2).

# THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING UAIC HAD REASONABLE GROUNDS TO INTERVENE

UAIC had reasonable grounds to intervene in the 2007 and 2018 matter. Its positions were taken in good faith and vindicated in relevant part as pertains to the 2018 action by this Court. Indeed, Nalder and Lewis sought rehearing; UAIC did not. The district court did not err in denying Lewis and Nalder fees in appellate proceedings wherein they still resisted the outcome.

# A. Awarding Attorney's Fees in this Case Would Have Been an Extraordinary Sanction

Lewis and Nalder demanded that the district court assess attorney's fees in an extraordinary sanction reserved for gross abuses of the appellate process. NRAP 38. Lewis and Nalder relied on NRS 18.010(2)(b) (Lewis AOB at 20; Nalder AOB at 15), ignoring that this Court has expressly rejected that standard for attorney's fees on appeal: "NRS 18.010 does not explicitly authorize attorney's fees on appeal," while "NRAP 38(b) limits attorney's fees on appeal to those instances where an appeal has been taken in a frivolous manner." *Bobby Berosini, Ltd. v. People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals*, 114 Nev. 1348,

1356–57, 971 P.2d 383, 388 (1998); see also Breeden v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 131 Nev. 96, 98, 343 P.3d 1242, 1243–44 (2015) (applying the NRAP 38 "frivolous" standard to writ petitions).

# B. The District Court Did Not Err in Finding that UAIC Did Not Maintain Its Position Without Reasonable Grounds or in Bad Faith

Nalder and Lewis argue that the district court erred in finding UAIC did not intervene in bad faith. (Lewis AOB at 20; Nalder AOB at 22.) The limited aspects of the opinion where Nalder and Lewis prevailed relate to issues before Judge Johnson in the 2007 action: whether UAIC could intervene in that action and have this 2018 action consolidated with that 2007 action. And on those issues, UAIC maintained its position in good faith.

UAIC had argued, and Judge Johnson agreed, that the unusual posture of this case—with Nalder and Lewis straining to revive a decade-old judgment—was different from the ordinary case where a party seeks to vacate a facially valid, unexpired judgment. Based on this Court's decisions that an expired judgment is void, *Leven v. Frey*, 123 Nev. 399, 410, 168 P.3d 712, 719 (2007), UAIC believed that in contrast

with a judgment that appears valid on its face, after the time for enforcing a judgment has passed without renewal, "a judgment no longer exists to be renewed." (3 App. 549 (citing *Kroop & Kurland, P.A. v. Lambros*, 703 A.2d 1287, 1293 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1998)).) UAIC reconciled this with this Court's 80-year-old decision in *Ryan v. Landis*, 58 Nev. 253, 75 P.2d 734 (1938) (citing *Seattle & N. Ry. Co. v. Bowman*, 102 P. 27, 28–29 (Wash. 1909)), and alternatively argued in good faith for its overruling. (*Id.* at 551, 567.)<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> UAIC also pointed to other jurisdictions that have allowed an interested party such as an insurer can bring a Rule 60(b) motion to vacate certain judgments against its insureds—even without the insured's consent. Crawford v. Gipson, 642 P.2d 248, 249–50 (Okla. 1982) (citing Kollmeyer v. Willis, 408 S.W.2d 370 (Mo. Ct. App. 1966)). And UAIC identified a wealth of authority from other jurisdictions interpreting Rule 24 to allow intervention after a final judgment. (5 App. 1057-60.) See generally 7C Wright & Miller, Federal Practice And Procedure § 1916 & n.23 (3d ed.) (listing cases in nearly every circuit allowing intervention in limited circumstances after a final judgment). SEC v. U.S. Realty & Improvement Co., 310 U.S. 434, 458-461 (1940); Flynt v. Lombardi, 782 F.3d 963 (8th Cir. 2015); Blum v. Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner & Smith Inc., 712 F.3d 1349 (9th Cir. 2013); United States v. City of Detroit, 712 F.3d 925 (6th Cir. 2013); In re Lease Oil Antitrust Litig., 570 F.3d 244 (5th Cir. 2009); Tweedle v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 527 F.3d 664 (8th Cir. 2008); Alstom Caribe, Inc. v. Geo. P. Reintjes Co., 484 F.3d 106 (1st Cir. 2007); Elliott Indus. Ltd. P'ship v. BP Am. Prod. Co., 407 F.3d 1091 (10th Cir. 2005); Acree v. Republic of Iraq, 370 F.3d 41, 50 (D.C. 2004); Tocher v. City of Santa Ana, 219 F.3d 1040 (9th Cir. 2000); Pansy v. Borough of Stroudsburg, 23 F.3d 772 (3d Cir. 1994); United States ex rel. McGough v. Covington Techs. Co., 967 F.2d 1391

This Court disagreed that a judgment's expiration merits intervention, but it never found or even suggested that UAIC's argument was frivolous. Specifically, this Court found that intervention in the 2007 case was impermissible but that UAIC properly intervened in the 2018 case. (3 App. 571-96.)

Indeed, this Court in a sense mooted the necessity of intervention

<sup>(9</sup>th Cir. 1992); Beckman Indus., Inc. v. Int'l Ins. Co., 966 F.2d 470 (9th Cir. 1992); Ceres Gulf v. Cooper, 957 F.2d 1199 (5th Cir. 1992); Officers for Justice v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 934 F.2d 1092 (9th Cir. 1991); United Nuclear Corp. v. Cranford Ins. Co., 905 F.2d 1424 (10th Cir. 1990); United States v. Yonkers Bd. of Educ., 902 F.2d 213 (2d Cir. 1990); Grubbs v. Norris, 870 F.2d 343 (6th Cir. 1989); Bank of Am. Nat'l Trust & Savs. Ass'n v. Hotel Rittenhouse Assocs., 844 F.2d 1050 (3d Cir. 1988); Fiandaca v. Cunningham, 827 F.2d 825 (1st Cir. 1987); Hill v. W. Elec. Co., 672 F.2d 381, 387 (4th Cir. 1982); Brown v. Eckerd Drugs, Inc., 663 F.2d 1268, 1278 (4th Cir. 1981), vacated on other grounds, 457 U.S. 1128 (1982); Howse v. S/V "Canada Goose I", 641 F.2d 317 (5th Cir. 1981); Fleming v. Citizens For Albemarle, Inc., 577 F.2d 236 (4th Cir. 1978); McDonald v. E. J. Lavino Co., 430 F.2d 1065 (1970) (reversing denial of insurer's motion to intervene); Shy v. Navistar Int'l Corp., 291 F.R.D. 128 (S.D. Ohio 2013); Nextel Commc'ns of Mid-Atlantic, Inc. v. Town of Hanson, 311 F. Supp. 2d 142 (D. Mass 2004); S. Pac. Co. v. City of Portland, 221 F.R.D. 637 (D. Or. 2004); Van Etten v. Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc., 117 F. Supp. 2d 1375 (S.D. Ga. 2000), vacated on other grounds sub nom. Chi. Tribune Co. v. Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc., 263 F.3d 1304 (11th Cir. 2001); Smith v. Bd. of Election Comm'rs, 586 F. Supp. 309 (N.D. Ill. 1984); Wilson v. Sw. Airlines Co., 98 F.R.D. 725 (N.D. Tex. 1983); In re Franklin Nat'l Bank Secs. Litig., 92 F.R.D. 468 (E.D.N.Y. 1981); Armstrong v. Bd. of Sch. Dirs., 471 F. Supp. 827, 846 (E.D. Wis. 1979); New York State ex rel. New York County v. United States, 65 F.R.D. 10 (D.D.C. 1974).

by clarifying that the amendment of the 2008 default judgment in the 2007 action did not create any new issues, as Judge Johnson had believed. (*Id.*) See also Eckerson v. C.E. Rudy, Inc., 72 Nev. 97, 98–99, 295 P.2d 399, 399–400 (1956) (noting that "it would more accurately be said that there was no pending action to which the intervention might attach"). It was just a ministerial change, leaving the substantive questions for resolution in the 2018 action. (*Id.*)

And even applying the wrong standard in NRS 18.010(2)(b), it is hard to say that UAIC's reason for wanting to intervene—to advance the position (resisted by both Nalder and Lewis) that the 2008 judgment had expired—was unreasonable or for purposes of harassment. In a decision that binds all of the parties here, the Ninth Circuit determined that the judgment had indeed expired and that the parties have waived their chance to argue otherwise. (5 App. 886–88.)

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